1984

Floyd Webster v. Mary Lehmer And Charles Lehmer : Opening Brief of Appellants

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff/Respondent Floyd Webster ("Webster") seeks rescission of a contract for the sale of his interest in a house and land in Park City, Utah and Defendants/Appellants

Mary and Charles Lehmer ("Lehmers"), in a counterclaim, for specific performance of the contract.

DISPOSITION OF THE CASE IN LOWER COURT

Webster commenced this action in the District Court for Summit County, Utah on July 14, 1981 seeking rescission of the sale of any interest he had in the house and land in Park City, Utah. The complaint alleged, in seven causes of action, vagueness and ambiguity of the agreement, insufficient consideration, violation of the statute of frauds, no meeting of the minds, misrepresentation, breach of fiduciary duty, and breach of the contract. (R.1).^{1/} Lehmers answered the complaint and counterclaimed, seeking specific performance of the agreement. (R.7) After discovery and before trial, Webster filed an amended complaint asserting additional grounds for rescission of the contract, including mutual and unilateral mistake of fact, undue influence and breach of trust and confidence in the formation and execution of the agreement. (R.175, 179, 199).

At the conclusion of the trial to the court, conducted on January 18th through 20, 1983, the court announced its ruling in favor of Webster. (T.414-419). The district court

^{1/} References are to the Trial Transcript ("T"), the designated record from the District Court file ("R").

entered judgment (R.367-369) and made its initial findings of fact and conclusions of law on April 18, 1983 (R.360-366) and made amended findings of fact and conclusions of law on June 15, 1983. (R.491-499). On June 15, 1983 the Court also denied Lehmers' motion to amend the findings of fact and conclusions of law or, alternatively, to grant a new trial. (R.489-490).

The amended findings of fact and conclusions of law and order denying Lehmers' motions were filed on June 29, 1983. (R.493). The district court's judgment granted Webster's requested relief of rescission of the real estate agreement.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Lehmers seek reversal of the district court's order of rescission dated April 18, 1983 of the real estate contract by reason of prejudicial errors of law. This Court should remit the case to the district court with directions to enter an order of specific performance of the real estate contract in favor of Lehmers or, alternatively, order a new trial on Lehmers' entitlement to specific performance, all in accordance with the opinion of this Court.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Did the district court err in denying Lehmers' motion in limine and in receiving at trial testimony regarding

the fair market value of the undivided fee simple interest in the subject property, when Webster only owned and sold the Lehmers squatter's rights in the building improvements on the premises?

2. Did the district court err in concluding that Webster had proven either a legally adequate mutual or unilateral mistake of fact sufficient to permit rescission of the agreement?

3. Did Webster fail to prove and did the district court err in ruling that Webster lacked mental capacity and was incapable of understanding the agreement?

4. Did the district court err in concluding that there existed a confidential relationship between the Lehmers and Webster such that a duty is due Webster by Lehmers in the real estate transaction?

5. Did the district court err in concluding that the confidential relationship existed between the Lehmers and Webster such that Webster was subject to the undue influence of the Lehmers?

6. Did the district court err in refusing to grant Lehmers' claim for specific performance of the agreement?

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. The Parties and The Squatter's Rights.

Appellants Mary and Charles Lehmer at all relevant times lived on what had been known as Heber Avenue, and what

is now known as Deer Valley Road, in Park City, Utah. (T.138-139, 222; Lehmer 5/4/82 depo. p. 7).^{2/} Mary Lehmer is a retired lawyer who practiced many years primarily in the area of family law with some experience in real estate matters. (T.222; Lehmer 5/4/82 depo. pp. 25-26). Mr. Webster is a retired miner and mechanic who has lived, with some interruptions, for approximately forty years in a house on a piece of property located on Deer Valley Road in Park City, Utah. (T.95-96, 103; Webster 1/7/83 depo. pp. 7-9). Webster, together with his late wife, on May 3, 1948, acquired a possessory right and interest in a four room frame dwelling house in Park City, Summit County, Utah by Quit Claim Deed (the "squatter's rights"). (T.95; Ex. 10.).^{3/} In 1948 and continuing thereafter, the underlying fee simple interest and ownership of the subject property were held in independent ownership. (T.55). The title to the real property on which Lehmers and Webster lived in Park City was originally owned by United Park City Mining Company and in 1971 was sold to Royal Street Land Company. (T.55).

^{2/} The depositions of Floyd Webster of May 4, 1982 and January 7, 1983, as well as the May 4, 1982 deposition of Mary Lehmer were all, upon motion, published before and used by the trial court as evidence under Rule 32(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. (T. 238, 419; R. 301).

^{3/} All exhibit references are to the trial exhibits which, whether offered by Webster or Lehmers, were numbered consecutively. (R.313, 314).

Webster, in the course of his employment for the mining company and subsequent to his retirement from that position, worked as a mechanic on sophisticated mining machinery, on equipment owned by Park City and on machinery and vehicles for various other individuals. (T. 104-106, 136-137). In conjunction with this mechanical work, Webster used and understood technical manuals and printed materials concerning the machinery and vehicles on which he worked. (T.137; Webster 1/7/83 depo. pp. 57-58).

2. The Relationship Between Webster and Lehmers.

Webster and Lehmers were neighbors in Park City from 1972 to 1980 and on occasion would see each other when passing in the neighborhood. (T.138-142; Webster 1/7/83 depo. pp. 107-108). Lehmers and Webster and his wife, who died in 1975, did not socialize together and except for one occasion, were not guests in the others home. (T.112, 139-140; Webster 1/7/83 depo. p. 108). Although Webster trusted the Lehmers, he was not under the influence of or dominated by the Lehmers during October through December, 1980 or at any other time. (T.168-169). Webster had never relied upon the Lehmers for business advice or the conduct of his day to day affairs and Webster was capable of making his own independent decisions regarding business matters and entering into contracts. (T.169-170; Webster 1/7/83 depo. pp. 106-108).

During the course of their acquaintance, Webster had done occasional odd jobs for Lehmers, such as helping with minor repairs on their house and automobiles, for which Lehmers gave him some small compensation. (T.110-111, 252-253; Webster 1/7/83 depo. pp. 17-20).

3. Formation of the Contract.

On October 7, 1980, the Lehmers happened to see Webster in the neighborhood and invited him to come into their home to discuss Webster's "squatter's rights" on the subject property on Deer Valley Road. At the time, Webster was unmarried, his wife having earlier died in 1975. The Lehmers inquired of Webster if he would be interested in selling his squatter's interest subject to his right to remain permanently on the property for the balance of his life for \$5,000.00. (T. 101-102, 167-168). Without extended discussion, and without any representations on the part of the Lehmers as to the value, title or quality of the squatter's rights which Webster owned, Webster accepted the offer to purchase subject to the right of Webster to live on the property, personally, as long as he desired. (T. 101-102, 169-170, 175; Webster 5/4/82 depo. p. 26).

Mary Lehmer wrote out in longhand a contract of sale of Webster's squatter's rights which, prior to signing, was read and understood by Webster and the Lehmers.^{4/}

^{4/} T. 170-174; Webster 5/4/82 depo. pp. 23, 24, 30, 35; Lehmer 5/4/82 depo. pp. 37,39,42; Ex. 11.

In late October 1980, Webster decided to move from the subject property and live with his former neighbor, Mary Dudley, in Heber City, Utah. (T. 283-284). Webster advised Lehmers of that intention and by the end of November 1980, Webster had voluntarily removed himself from the subject property. Because of that fact and in further consideration of the Lehmers agreeing to pay delinquent public utility and sanitary fees, as well as unpaid taxes and attorney's fees on Webster's squatter's rights, the Lehmers and Webster entered into an amended agreement of sale on December 21, 1980 wherein Webster agreed to surrender and release his tenancy of the subject property which had been reserved in the original agreement. (T. 128-133; Ex. 12).

Under the terms of the real estate agreement, the Lehmers were to arrange for a survey of the property and prepare a quitclaim deed based on the survey. In mid October 1980, Mrs. Lehmer retained an engineer to prepare and certify the required survey. The survey took several months to complete. (T. 180, 293-294).

On numerous occasions between October 7 and the end of December 1980, Webster specifically and unequivocally ratified and implemented the agreement of sale with Lehmers by:

- . requesting of and receiving from Lehmers \$100.00 cash toward the purchase price on

two occasions in October of 1980; (T. 125, 126, 179);

- . requesting of and receiving from Lehmer \$500.00 cash toward the purchase price in November of 1980. (T. 126, 179, 183);
- . requesting of and receiving from Lehmers 200.00 cash toward the purchase price on December 21, 1980. (T. 181, 183);
- . signed an affidavit on December 21, 1980, prepared by the Lehmers to terminate what was believed to be his deceased wife's joint tenancy in the property. (T. 132-33, Ex. 13);
- . gave Lehmers a key to the house located on the subject property. (T. 187);
- . removed his personal possessions from the house and moved in with Mary Dudley in Heber City. (T. 187; Webster 5/4/82 depo. pp. 67-71).

In additional furtherance and implementation of the agreement, the Lehmers obtained the survey on the property, paid for the same and paid the public utilities and sanitary fees. (T. 293-295, 298-299). Lehmers prepared a quitclaim deed to Webster's squatter's rights and, in January 1981, Mary Lehmer spoke with Webster by telephone to arrange a date for final closing, payment of the balance due under the contract

of sale and execution of the quitclaim deed. Webster orally reaffirmed the contract and it was agreed that the parties would set a convenient date, after Mrs. Lehmer recovered from an illness, for the final closing. (T. 293-294).

In early February 1981, Lehmers sent to Webster in a negotiable draft for \$1,100.00 in further part payment of the purchase price and thereupon attempted to arrange with Webster a date for closing on the property. Webster accepted the draft but did not negotiate it.^{5/}

4. The Royal Street Land Company.

On October 7, 1980, the underlying fee interest in the subject property was owned by Royal Street Land Company, a real estate development company and the Park City ski resort operator. (T. 45-46, 55). Title to the fee simple interest of the underlying ground on the squatter's rights of Webster could have been reasonably ascertained by a review of the record title in the office of the county recorder for Summit County, in Coalville, Utah. (Webster 1/7/83 depo. pp. 94-97).

At the time of the execution of the October 7, 1980 agreement between Webster and the Lehmers, Royal Street had developed an "informal" and ad hoc policy of selling the

^{5/} T. 292-293, 299-300; Webster 5/4/82 depo. pp. 72-74, 82-84; Lehmer 5/4/82 depo. p. 35.

underlying title to Deer Valley "squatters" for 50 cents a square foot (T. 57). The policy was not only undeclared and unpublished, it was not generally disseminated in the Park City area. (T. 56-57). The testimony is absolutely clear that the Lehmers were not aware of any informal or ad hoc policy of Royal Street between October and December 1980. (T. 268-269, 286-287).

To the contrary, Mary Lehmer had chatted with neighbors in the Deer Valley area in casual conversation, and had suggested that should Royal Street attempt to evict any of the "squatters" from their land, all of the squatters and others similarly situated should join together, retain an attorney and fight Royal Street. (T. 236-241, 301).

On the other hand, Webster had been told by a neighbor, Neil Clegg, prior to October 1980, that Royal Street might have an informal policy in which the underlying fee title could be acquired and that Webster should check with Royal Street to determine whether that policy would apply to his squatter's interest. (T. 324-331). Similar information was given to Webster by Alma Pedersen, a co-worker for Park City, long before October 1980. (Webster 1/7/83 depo. p. 66). Webster made no attempt to take Clegg's advice or to otherwise ascertain the underlying fee title. (T. 147-150).

5. Webster's Lack of Concern Regarding the Underlying Fee Title to his Squatter's Interest.

From the time that Webster first acquired the squatter's interest in 1948, he knew he did not own the underlying property. (Webster 1/7/83 depo p. 42). Yet, he neither had any desire to nor did he attempt to ascertain the title of the underlying fee simple of the ground where his home was situated. He made no inquiry at any time on the subject. (T. 147-150).

Although Webster claimed, only after amending his complaint, that as of October 7, 1980, he believed the underlying fee of his squatter's property was owned by the U. S. Bureau of Land Management (BLM), the undisputed and pivotal fact is that it did not make any difference to Webster who was the owner of the underlying fee as of October 7, 1980 -- he would have still, at that time, sold his property to the Lehmers for \$5,000.00. (Webster 1/7/83 depo. p. 72). Webster stated on the witness stand:

"Q Now, with regard to whether the ground surrounding your property was owned by the BLM or by Royal Street, it didn't make any difference to you, did it, at the time you sold the property to Mrs. Lehmer?

A No, it didn't.

Q In other words, whether the BLM owned it or whether Royal Street owned it, you would have sold it to Mrs. Lehmer for \$5,000; isn't that right?

A Yes."

(T. 147-148).

On redirect examination by his own counsel, Webster again reaffirmed his testimony that regardless of the underlying ownership of the property in Royal Street or in the BLM, he would have still sold his squatter's rights to the property for \$5,000.00. (T. 195). Webster stated that in October 1980 he believed \$5,000.00 was a fair value to pay for his squatter's rights. (T. 179).

The Lehmers did not cause Webster to believe that his home was situated on BLM ground. (T. 155). Lehmers made no representations or statements to Webster, directly or indirectly, with regard to the title of the underlying fee to Webster's surface interest. (T. 101-102, 169-170, 175). Webster never advised the Lehmers that he thought his home was on BLM ground. (T. 163, 169-170).

6. The Mental Capacity of Webster.

The record at trial is clear that Webster was a man of at least reasonable if not above average intelligence, that he knew and understood the consequences of his agreement to sell the squatter's rights to the Lehmers, that he intended to sell those rights on October 7, 1980, that he believed at that

time \$5,000.00 to be a fair price for his squatter's interest, and that he was not under any disability as of that date (T. 143-144, 171-172, 179, 184).

Yet, Webster claimed at trial that he was a drunk, an alcoholic, and that he was depressed because of the death of his wife. His wife had died more than five years before the date of the conveyance. While he did drink wine, he was not under the influence of alcohol at the time of the agreement, he had never required medical help for any drinking problem, and he was in full control of his faculties and actions in October, November and December of 1980. (T. 142-144; Webster 1/7/83 depo. p. 24). Indeed, Webster made a conscious decision to move from the subject premises to Heber City in order to begin living with the former neighbor of he and his wife, Mary Dudley. (T. 181, 283-284). While Webster's driver's license had been revoked in 1979 for driving under the influence, Webster had never thereafter attempted to reapply or obtain another license. (Webster 1/7/83 depo. p. 24).

The Lehmers were not aware of any claimed alcoholic problem of Webster; they only knew that he took a social drink as did others in the community. (Webster 1/7/83 depo. pp. 26-27).

There is no testimony that in October 1980 Webster was incapable of handling or administering his affairs, or comprehending the reasonable consequences of his conduct, or

of being unable to comprehend the value of his squatter's rights. Webster had been accustomed to entering into contracts for the sale of automobiles, appliances and other chattels, he readily understood complex mechanical manuals and he read the daily newspaper. (T. 136-138). At the trial, he did have a stutter and a halting gait in his speech. (T. 135). When asked by his counsel to read from the written contract of October 7, 1970, Webster read the words out loud to the court, tripping over some vowels and larger words as he went. However, he gave a reasonable clear definition of the terms and comprehension of the condition of sale. (T. 170-172).

7. Belief of the Parties as to Ownership and Value of the Squatter's Rights.

In October 1980, Webster and the Lehmers were of the understanding that the squatter's rights of Webster were held by him and his late wife as joint tenants. (T. 178-179, 225-226, 233). In fact, that was the view of Webster at the time when the complaint was filed in July 1981. In an amended complaint, Webster claimed the property was held between himself and his wife as tenants in common and that his daughters were, therefore, entitled to an interest in the property because his wife had died intestate. (R. 181). At trial, the Lehmers acknowledged that if Webster was not the surviving joint tenant, he could only be ordered by specific performance to convey the interest which he agreed to "quitclaim" to the

Lehmers, namely, an undivided 1/2 interest as a tenant in common plus an undivided 1/3 of his deceased wife's 1/2 interest. (T. 304).

There were no representations, statements, or opinions expressed, made, or uttered, directly or indirectly, by the Lehmers to Webster on or about October 7, 1980, with regard to the value of Webster's squatter's interest in the property. (T. 101-102, 169-170, 175; Webster 5/4/82 depo. p. 26). At the date of the transaction, the Lehmers believed at the fair market value of Webster's squatter's rights was not more than \$5,000.00. (T. 255-256). Webster was in agreement. (T. 179).

8. Testimony on the Fair Market Value on the Undivided Fee Simple Estate.

The only testimony offered at trial as to the fair market value of the squatter's rights sold by Webster to the Lehmers on October 7, 1980, as amended on December 20, 1980, was that of the Lehmers, viz., "between \$1500.00 to \$5,000.00." (T. 348, 355-360). That estimated value was submitted by J. Brown, a certified appraiser. (T. 340). Brown testified that squatter's rights, per se, could not be evaluated as if the property were owned in fee simple, for the latter carried with it the total bundle of rights in perpetuity, while squatter's rights were limited to the economic utility and life of the house and the use of the surface in connection with the house.

Arnold testified that the highest and best use of the squatter's rights was not for condominium or high density, new residential use, as the owner was not entitled to legally place the property to such use. (T. 353-354, 361).

By a motion in limine, the Lehmers requested that the district court exclude any evidence and expert testimony as to the fair market value of Webster's squatter's rights (R. 271-272) on the theory that such testimony was irrelevant to the issues before the court. The district court denied the motion in limine and over the continuing objection of the Lehmers, permitted the testimony of a real estate salesman, L. Pia, as to the fair market value of the entire undivided fee simple as of October 1980. (T. 65, 68, 77-78). Pia testified that as of that date, the highest and best use of the Webster squatter's rights was for condominium development and that the squatter's rights would have sold on the market for between \$240,000.00 and \$400,000.00 (T. 69, 83).

Pia had no comparable sales of any squatter's rights having been sold for a per acre or per square foot price that would begin to approach such values. Indeed, Pia was not aware of a sale or even an offer to sell any squatter's rights at all. (T. 91). The district court did not explain the rationale of its ruling admitting testimony of the fair market value of the undivided fee simple to prove the value of Webster's squatter's rights. (T. 68-69).

9. Attempted Rescission by Webster.

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