1984

Floyd Webster v. Mary Lehmer And Charles Lehmer : Brief of Respondent

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff/Respondent Floyd Webster seeks rescission of a contract for the sale of his home and lot in Deer Valley and Defendants/Appellants Mary and Charles Lehmer, in a counterclaim, pray for specific performance of the contract.

DISPOSITION OF THE CASE IN LOWER COURT

Webster commenced this action in the District Court for Summit County, Utah, on July 14, 1981, seeking rescission of the sale of his home and lot in Deer Valley. Lehmers answered the complaint and counterclaimed, seeking specific performance of the agreement.

At the conclusion of the trial to the court, conducted on January 18th through 20, 1983, the court announced its ruling in

... of Webster. (T. 414-419).^{1/} The district court entered judgment (P. 367-369) and the ultimate findings of fact and conclusions of law were filed on June 29, 1983. (R. 493). The district court's judgment granted Webster's requested relief of rescission of the real estate agreement.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Lehmers seek reversal of the district court's order of rescission of the real estate contract and for an order of specific performance in favor of Lehmers or, alternatively, a new trial. Webster asks that the judgment be affirmed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Since this is a case in equity it is the sum of the circumstances that is important. Appellants in their opening brief use fourteen pages to cover their statement of facts. Because it is the sum that is important, plaintiff will first point out the statements of the defendants that appear to be inaccurate or misleading and second set forth plaintiff's own statement of facts so that the entire matter can be seen in proper perspective.

1. Facts or Implications Set Forth In Appellant's Brief To Be Controverted In Whole or In Part.

^{1/} References are to the Trial Transcript ("T"), the designated record from the District Court file ("R").

Paragraph 5 of the opening brief makes the statement that, "In 1948 and continuing thereafter, the underlying fee simple interest and ownership of the subject property were held in independent ownership." We would acknowledge that record title - the underlying fee simple interest was in the mining company and its successors in interest but allege that there was a genuine issue as to right of possession and therefore ownership. Defendant acknowledged the distinction and recognized that Webster was the de facto owner of the property. (T. 309:4-14). On pages 6 and 7 of plaintiff's opening brief, they speak of the "sophisticated" mining machinery and allege "In conjunction with this mechanical work, Webster used and understood technical manuals and printed materials concerning the machinery and vehicles on which he worked and that "he readily understood complex mechanical manuals and he read the daily newspaper." These conclusions from the testimony are clearly non-sequitur or at least gross distortions calculated to mislead and are contrary to what was conspicuous to the trial judge. See Finding #5 and Conclusion #1. The statement on page 6 that "Webster had never relied upon the Lehmers for business advice or the conduct of his day-to-day affairs and Webster was capable of making his own independent decisions" is not completely accurate and conflicts with the evidence. See plaintiff's statement of facts and supporting references that follow. The statement at the top of page 7 that the contract "was read and understood by Webster

the Lehmers" is too absolute as will be hereinafter pointed out. On page 8 of the opening brief, there is the allegation that "In late October 1980, Webster decided to move from the subject property and live with his former neighbor, Mary Dudley, in Heber City, Utah. Webster advised Lehmers of that intention and by the end of November 1980 Webster had voluntarily removed himself from the subject property." This statement must be modified by the fact that Mr. Webster continued to sleep in the home from time to time during October, November and December. (T. 182-183). Again on page 10 there is a need to draw a distinction between title being in the name of and owned by Royal Street Land Company vis-a-vis the "record title" being reflected in said name. Page 11 of their brief claims, "The policy (50¢ a square foot) was not only undeclared and unpublished, it was not generally disseminated in the Park City area. The testimony is absolutely clear that Lehmers were not aware of any informal or ad hoc policy of Royal Street between October and December 1980." Both defendant Mary Lehmer and her witness Neil Clegg stated the contrary. See Neil Clegg's testimony (T. 334-335) and Lehmer's testimony (T. 269). On page 11 it is alleged that "On the other hand, Webster had been told by a neighbor, Neil Clegg, prior to October 1980, that Royal Street might have an informal policy in which the underlying fee title could be acquired and that Webster should check with Royal Street

to determine whether that policy would apply to his squatter's interests." The existence of said "conversation" is denied by Mr. Webster. (T. 146-147). Appellants statement of facts and conclusions and references on pages 12 and 13 of their opening need to be scrutinized. For example, the question to Mr. Webster was,

Q. Now, with regard to whether the ground surrounding your property was owned by the BLM or by Royal Street, it didn't make any difference to you, did it, at the time you sold the property to Mrs. Lehmer?

A. NO, it didn't. (T. 147-148)

Mr. Campbell, thinking one thing but saying something else, asked concerning the property "surrounding" the Floyd Webster parcel. He did not inquire as to whether it made any difference as to who was the "record title" holder of the property upon which Mr. Webster's home was located, that is, the property that was subject to Floyd Webster's easement, his adverse possession claim, his squatter's interest. Of course it made no difference who owned the surrounding property. But what about the subject property? That is the important question. Further, what was Mr. Webster's understanding of the term "underlying property?" Did this term connote, to the old miner, the mineral or subsurface rights? The word "underlying" by dictionary definition means "lying beneath. Surface vis-a-vis subsurface or mineral interests; record title holder vis-a-vis de facto owner or adverse possession owner." Webster's home and lot vis-a-vis the surrounding property. Now, if we are talking about, what was contemplated by the witness? How

... Mr. Webster comprehend? How much distortion resulted from the suggestive form of the question? In fairness to the witness there appears to be a distinction drawn between record title and the right of possession, that is, ownership rights established by way of easement and/or adverse possession. Floyd Webster did make it clear that he would not have sold if he had known he was on mining company property. (T. 133, 175). The record is replete with examples of this witness giving simple but completely accurate responses to a question, which answers, on first impression, appeared to counsel to be either inaccurate or inconsistent. Page 14 alleges that Floyd Webster "was not under any disability" but that "Webster claimed at trial that he was a drunk, an alcoholic, and that he was depressed because of the death of his wife." It was primarily his friends and associates that were aware of this condition, not Mr. Webster (T. 205-206, 208), although he himself recognized that he was destitute and depressed. (T. 194-195). The allegation that "Lehmers were not aware of any claimed alcoholic problem of Webster" is contrary to the circumstantial evidence and there is an interesting, if not amusing acknowledgement, by Mary Lehmer to the reality of this "problem." On page 251 of the transcript Mrs. Lehmer was asked "You knew on October 7, 1980, that Floyd Webster had a drinking problem; did you not?" Answer. "No. The crown of no drinking problem he has. He just likes to drink." The statement on page 14 that, "There is no testimony that in

October 1980 Webster was incapable of handling or administering his affairs," is in dispute. The real issue was the extent of her capability. In our statement of facts we reflect those matters that shed light on the matter. A statement on page 16 of the transcript reads: "At the date of the transaction, the Lehmers believed that the fair market value of Webster's squatter's right was not more than \$5000.00." Our riposte: Mary Lehmer was an astute attorney, a sizeable landholder in Park City, she served on the committee that formulated Summit County's zoning ordinance; on the Park City Master Plan Committee, she was city attorney from 1968-70 and a council member from 1972-76, she was well aware of the 50¢ a square foot policy and knowledgeable concerning possessory rights of the squatters, including Floyd Webster's, which squatters she had competently advised about their right to permanently reside on the land, and she had just three months before negotiated for and acquired record title to her 26,000 square feet of property in the Valley for \$2,000.00 from Royal Street Land Company and she knew that Floyd Webster and many of her neighbors with houses on Royal Street Land Company land - mining company land - were in a similar position to so purchase. (T. 39-46, 309:4-14). Circumstantial evidence was so clear and convincing to the contrary that in fact the trial court found her purported statement of belief to have been impeached. On page 16 we find the following statement

The only testimony offered at trial as to the fair market value of the squatter's rights sold by Webster to Lehmers on October 7, 1980, as amended on December 20, 1980, was that of Lehmers, viz., between \$1500.00 to \$5000.00." These statements are controverted as now hereinafter set out.

2. Plaintiff's Statement Of The Facts.

While in a state of extreme poverty and somewhat depressed, without heat or water in his small home (T. 106; 115:11-116:23; 194:18-195:13; 205:23-206; 208:18-24 Exhibit 17), Floyd Webster, a 61 year old unemployed miner with 25 years underground (T. 103:10-18) and an eighth grade education (T. 94:16-21), is called in off the street on October 7, 1980, while passing the home of his neighbors and friends, Ray and Mary Lehmer. (T. 101:10-102; 115:4-10; 167; 257:25-258:21). They lived next door to each other in Deer Valley. Mary Lehmer, successor to a "squatter," an attorney, former Park City Attorney and member of the City Council (T. 222:2-5; 405:9-10) acquired the record title to 26,000 square feet of property in Deer Valley just three months before for \$2,000.00 from Royal Street Land Company (T. 41-45) and she knew that Floyd Webster and many of her neighbors with houses on Royal Street Land Company land-- mining company land--had a "title problem" about which she had been reticent in counseling them. The problem results from living in a house on mining company land, a situation which she had in common with Floyd Webster and other neighbors and had extensively

researched. (T. 236-250). She and her husband had previously discussed Floyd Webster and his property and called him to the porch as he passed by on the street, all part of a preconceived plan (T. 101, 102, 115, 257, 258) to acquire \$240,000.00-\$400,000.00 worth of property from a friend and neighbor for a sum slightly in excess of \$5,000.00.

Mary Lehmer had counseled Floyd Webster as an attorney after his wife's, Alice's, death in 1975 and had also advised Alice. (T. 108:19-109 134:1-7; 223:5-6; 236:18-21; 245:21-246:17; 281:11) Floyd Webster had met with her and her husband many times and done work for them without charge. (T. 106:20 to 108:5; 110 to 112) Floyd Webster "trusted" Mrs. Lehmer and her husband and "figured that she was a square-shooter" "her being an attorney." (T. 123:3-20; 193:7-10). During October and December of 1980 Floyd Webster had a drinking problem (T. 106:13-19; 134:15-20; 206-208) undoubtedly known to the Lehmers (T. 251:34) and they knew he needed money. It was at a time when nothing seemed to "make any difference" (T. 147:20 to 150). But still it appears that he "would not have sold (his home and land) for \$5,000.00" if he had known that (his home) was on mining property." (T. 133, 169:8-9)

When he came into the house Mary and Ray Lehmer immediately offered Floyd Webster \$5,000.00 for his house and interest in the property except for the right to live there for life and she drew up an agreement in her handwriting which he and the Lehmers

(T. 167 and Exhibit 11). Floyd Webster believed he had vested rights in the surface (T. 166:17-23, 178) possibly because of the advice that attorney Mary Lehmer had given to him (T. 146:4-9). Floyd knew when he signed this agreement that Royal Street had a policy of selling title for 50¢ a foot to persons who had their homes on mining company land (T. 120:9-25; 163, 48:9-10, 60:19-20) and he also knew that property smaller than his had been sold for much more than \$5,000.00. In fact, a smaller parcel than his sold for \$190,000.00 between November 1980 and January of 1981. (T. 6-10, Exhibits 1-4). It was Floyd Webster's belief when he signed this agreement that the land under the subject house was owned by the Bureau of Land Management and not the mining company (T. 117-120; 149; 169; 217) and he thought that Ray and Mary Lehmer believed this too because he knew they were knowledgeable about the property situation in Deer Valley and he trusted that they would tell him if they knew otherwise. (T. 123). He recognized an economic difference created in part because of the 50¢ policy. (T. 175:21-25). And he would not have sold had he been aware that it was on mining property (property owned by Royal Street Land Company). (T. 133:14-21).

As the agreement of 10/7/80 didn't provide any time for the payment to Floyd Webster and he needed money, he went back to the Lehmer residence three times in October and November of 1980 to obtain advances totaling \$700.00. (T. 125-126; 179-182). When he

went again to their residence on 12/21/80 to secure an advance of \$100.00 or \$200.00 for Christmas, Mary Lehmer wrote up another agreement in his presence and he signed it. (T. 131:23 to 133:2). This agreement provided that he would surrender his life estate in the property in exchange for payments by the Lehmers of (1) the "unpaid water, sewer, and scavenger charges of \$356.20 needed to reinstall meter and connect water to my house," (2) "the 1980 taxes due and unpaid on my house," and (3) "the legal expenses and recording fees to terminate my dead wife's joint tenancy in my home." (Exhibit 12). Attorney Lehmer understood the significance of joint tenancy property. (T. 226:4-227:1; 230:16-22). She was knowledgeable concerning the laws of intestate succession and knew that if the property was not in joint tenancy, that Floyd Webster's two daughters were entitled to two-thirds of their mother's one-half interest. (T. 233-235). It was the intention of Mary Lehmer that this agreement written on the back of that of 10/7/80 would integrate and merge both agreements into the latter. Attorney Lehmer did not read or explain the agreements to Floyd Webster but left it up to him to read and comprehend. He was unable to adequately do so. (T. 130 to 131; 171:5-6). Three days later on December 24, 1980, the Lehmers rented the house for \$250.00 a month. (T. 274:22-25). They did not pay the 1980 taxes, Arlene Nyman did so. (Exhibit 5). In January of 1981 Floyd Webster refused to execute a deed to the Lehmers or take any more money from them and on February 24th and 27th, 1981, his attorney offered

return to the Lehmers the full amount of their advances and expenditures. (Exhibits 23 and 24).

3. District Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. Floyd Webster, the plaintiff at the time of the transactions involved, October 7, 1980, and December 21, 1980, was a sixty-one year old miner of some thirty-three years of experience, twenty-five of which were underground, with an eighth grade formal education. Mary Lehmer, the remaining defendant, was a retired lawyer who practiced many years with considerable experience in real estate matters.

2. The plaintiff and the defendant were neighbors for several years and befriended one another. The plaintiff trusted the defendant and felt he could rely upon her advice which she gave him and his wife without charge from time to time over the years. The plaintiff placed confidence in the defendant to the extent that he felt that the confidence would not be abused and that defendant would not act contrary to his interest.

3. That plaintiff after the death of his wife in 1975 and through the time of the transactions became despondent and depressed to the extent that his personal affairs suffered; specifically, he suffered from a severe drinking problem. He lost his driving privileges prior to and had no drivers license at the time of the transactions involved here as a result of an arrest on a D.U.I. charge.

4. His water and gas had been shut off in approximately August of 1980. In October of 1980 he was unemployed. He was in need of money. His family was assisting him by providing food and money. His property taxes had not been paid for a period of four years and were delinquent for three years.

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